MATHEMATICAL MODELING OF IMMUNOLOGICAL REACTIONS

Penelope A. Morel

Department of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh and the University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Pittsburgh, PA 15213

Received 2/16/98 Accepted 3/9/98

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
- 3. Models of HIV infection and other infectious diseases
- 4. Models of T cell activation and proliferation
- 5. Signal transduction models
- 6. *Immune networks*
- 7. Other immunological models
- 8. Cellular automata in immunology
- 9. Conclusions
- 10. Acknowledgments
- 11. References

1. ABSTRACT

The immune system is a highly regulated, complex and integrated system which has evolved to provide the organism with substantial defenses against pathogenic organisms. Over the last several decades there has been an explosion of experimental data in this area, and new techniques in molecular and cellular biology have been crucial in deepening our understanding of immune processes. Most of these new techniques have allowed the isolation of the process or cell under study so that the results can be readily interpretable. At the present time, however, there is an emerging need to understand the system as it functions as a whole and the language of mathematics is the one best suited for this purpose. This review, written from the perspective of an experimental immunologist, describes some of the recent advances in the development of mathematical models of the immune system. Particular emphasis is placed on the rapidly growing field of modeling in HIV infection and T cell activation. Immunology as a whole will benefit from the introduction of the language of mathematics in much the same way as neuroscience has done in the last decade.

2. INTRODUCTION

The immune system functions primarily to protect the organism from invading pathogens. In order to perform this function, the immune system has evolved strategies that allow successful elimination of a wide variety of pathogens, including viruses, bacteria and parasites. These strategies include specific recognition mechanisms that allow the host to distinguish a dangerous pathogen from non-pathogenic organisms or physiological changes in the host. They also allow for the development of killing/inactivation mechanisms tailored to individual pathogens. These responses are highly regulated in order to avoid problems with autoimmunity and to control responses that can, if left unchecked, have grave immunopathological consequences. Thus, the immune response to pathogens is a complex, highly regulated system involving numerous interactions between different cell types. The cells of the immune system communicate with each other by direct cell-cell contact and deliver signals to each other directly, through cell surface molecules, or

indirectly, via secreted proteins, known as cytokines. Experimental advances in immunology over the last two decades have been immense and many of the important questions surrounding the issues of pathogen recognition, immune cell development, immune regulation and effector mechanisms are well on the way to being answered.

In order to obtain interpretable data on many of these issues, it has been necessary to devise experimental techniques that isolate the questions of interest. For example, the actions of a particular cytokine can be determined using in vitro experiments with individual cell types and purified cytokines. In addition, the in vivo relevance of the same cytokine can be determined by generating a mouse lacking this cytokine through the targeted disruption of the cytokine gene. These approaches have been extremely successful in determining the functions of individual cytokines or cell surface molecules. These experiments do not, however, allow a true assessment of the relative importance of each molecule in the naturally occurring immune response, in which all of the cells and cytokines are functioning simultaneously. A good example of this is the case of interleukin (IL-) 2 which, from in vitro experiments, was thought to be the most important factor driving T cell proliferation (1, 2). It was a surprise, therefore, that IL-2 knockout mice showed little to no impairment of T cell proliferation, but rather appeared to have defects in T cell death, which lead to the development of inflammatory bowel disease (3-5). Do these results mean that IL-2 is not an important factor for T cell proliferation? Probably not : it is likely that in the normal mouse IL-2 does play a dominant role in T cell proliferation, but that the expansion of pathogen-specific T cells is such an important function of the immune system that other mechanisms can be utilized in the event of IL-2 dysfunction.

These, and other similar experiments, point to the flaws in using pure experimental techniques to address complex issues of immune regulation and development. There is now an increasing need to understand how the immune system functions as a whole in order to be able to better understand the development of diseases such as autoimmunity, allergy and cancer, and to design effective strategies to treat them. An important concept is that the immune response evolves rapidly in time and its interactions are all highly regulated. The only real way to study the whole integrated system is through the use of mathematical modeling. There has been relatively little interest, on the part of experimental immunologists, in this area, probably due to the complexity of the mathematics necessary for this work and the dearth of mathematicians sufficiently cognizant of the immune system to make such models useful. This situation appears to be changing (6) and is most apparent in the study of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection, where, as discussed in detail below, mathematical models have been useful in challenging existing paradigms of AIDS development and are now an integral part of the HIV research effort.

Mathematical models can serve several distinct purposes. They can be used to analyze experimental results and provide predictions and suggestions for follow-up experiments, or they can attempt to synthesize existing knowledge and provide a theoretical framework for the interpretation of existing paradigms. Both types of model are useful to the experimental immunologist, and the ultimate merit of particular models depends on the specific questions they are designed to answer. The more assumptions that have to be put into the model, the harder it is to be confident about the conclusions. On the other hand, a well designed model can test different assumptions and provide important new insights into questions that cannot be readily answered experimentally.

This review is written from the point of view of an experimental immunologist who has been engaged in close collaboration with mathematicians in the development of mathematical models describing the Th1/Th2 system of immune regulation. As such, this review will focus on aspects of modeling that appear, to this writer, to have contributed significantly to the understanding of the immune system.

3. MODELS OF HIV INFECTION AND OTHER INFECTIOUS DISEASES

An area of intense research in recent years has been that of mathematical models of HIV infection and the progression to AIDS. HIV infects CD4⁺ cells (T cells and monocytes) through interaction of its envelope glycoprotein, gp120, with CD4 and by interaction with another cell surface protein, the chemokine receptor CXCR4 (7, 8). The infection is characterized by a long latent phase with a low viral load in which CD4⁺ T cell numbers either remain stable or gradually fall, followed by an increase in viral load associated with a rapid decline of CD4⁺ T cells and the development of AIDS. This phenomenon has been intriguing to immunologists and virologists alike, and the use of mathematical models has been instrumental in deepening our understanding of this infection. It was realized early on that HIV has a high mutation rate, which would allow the escape of virus mutants from immune detection. This concept formed the basis of one of the first models of HIV infection, which postulated that during the latent phase of the infection the immune system and the virus were engaged in a race for dominance (9). It was postulated that the immune system could successfully remove most of the initial viral inoculum,

but that mutant viruses requiring additional responses would continually appear. This process could continue for some time, but because the target for HIV infection was the CD4⁺ T cell which would be gradually depleted over time, the immune system would eventually be unable to respond to new mutant viruses. This point was termed a "diversity threshold" and, since the immune system would fail to respond to the new mutant virus, AIDS would ensue (9). This model made some important predictions, and much debate and new experiments followed.

A major breakthrough occurred when two groups used mathematical models to calculate the viral turnover and the lifespan of infected CD4⁺ T cells (10, 11). In these studies it was observed that the use of powerful anti-viral drugs, such as protease inhibitors, resulted in a rapid drop in the viral load and a concomitant increase in the CD4 count. From these results, it was possible to calculate the replication rate of HIV which proved to be much higher than people had expected; in addition, the lifespan of infected cells was calculated to be around 2 days (10, 11). The models were also used to calculate the CD4 lymphocyte turnover and this was found to be of the order of 10^9 CD4⁺ T cells/day (10, 11). These papers were important in the field because they revealed that HIV infection was a dynamic process with continuing viral replication, even during periods of apparent quiescence and stable CD4 counts. In addition it was shown that the failure of single agent therapy was associated with the emergence of viral mutants, that were resistant to the drug being used (11). These studies changed the way that people thought about HIV infection and made some concrete predictions and suggestions about therapy. Thus, it was argued that therapy should be started as early as possible, with multiple agents, in order to prevent the evolution of drug resistant mutants, which has become the standard mode of therapy.

The mathematical models used in these studies were relatively simple and did not incorporate the immune response to HIV. This has proved to be a point of some debate since some individuals believe that the progression to AIDS is simply a reflection of the virus/host dynamics, and the immune system is only involved because immune cells are targets for infection. Others believe that the immune system plays an important role in the ability of individuals infected with HIV to combat this infection and may determine whether individuals are fast or slow progressors. Many mathematical models have been proposed to address this question, and it is clear that it is possible to reproduce the clinical results using models that do not evoke an immune response to the virus (12-17). One of these models considers that HIV can only productively infect activated CD4⁺ T cells; this model is capable of reproducing the time course of HIV infection with progression to AIDS, without invoking a diversity threshold (13,14). Another model describes the progression to AIDS as a direct effect of HIV on CD4 depletion coupled with homeostatic mechanisms that lead to holes in the T cell repertoire (16). Whether these models capture the reality of HIV infection or not, they prove that mathematical models can be used to test particular hypotheses.

Recently, models of viral dynamics in the presence of anti-viral drugs have been used to provide

detailed characteristics of viral replication and to suggest the best strategies of drug therapy to maximize HIV control and, potentially, viral elimination (18-23). Wein et al proposed a model that assessed the benefit of using a dynamic therapeutic approach in which drug therapy was changed based on the evolution of the infection (23). The results suggested that a dynamic multidrug approach would result in lower viral loads, higher CD4 counts and a delay in the progression to AIDS. Perelson et al have used clinical data obtained from patients receiving combination therapies for the first time to obtain accurate assessment of the rate of viral loss and to estimate how long treatment would theoretically have to be continued in order to eliminate the virus (24). These studies predicted that therapy would need to be continued for 2-3 years after the viral load has become undetectable in order to remove all of the virus from the blood and tissue compartments (24). Whether such estimates will be used in clinical practice remains to be seen. Estimates of the lifespan of the infected cell and the viral generation time were also made (25), although these results were challenged by Herz et al (22) who suggest that while it is possible to calculate the lifespan of the infected cell it is not possible from the existing data to arrive at an accurate estimate of the intracellular lifespan of HIV.

The issue of the role of the immune response in HIV infection has been directly addressed in several recent models. In these papers, models that either did or did not incorporate the immune response were compared (26-28). In simple models of viral replication and interaction with host cells, it was possible to develop a stable equilibrium of virus and CD4 cells, but this appeared to occur at higher viral loads than are observed clinically. The introduction of the immune (virus-specific CTL response) response into the model resulted in a low viral load (27, 29). The relevance of the CTL response has been questioned since no correlation has been observed between rate of progression and the level of measured specific CTL activity in the blood. However, the model demonstrates a potential explanation for this, by suggesting that the levels of measured CTL response do not necessarily reflect the "strength" of these responses (27). In this case the "strength" or responsiveness of an individual is distinguished from the measured response, and an individual who has an effective CTL response, that maintains the viral load low, may have a low measured CTL response in the blood because there is little viral antigen available to maintain it. Further predictions are made to suggest that the rate of progression is likely to be slow in individuals with strong CTL responses but rapid in those with weak responses. The strength of the CTL response may be reflected in the immunogenetics of individuals such that people with particular MHC alleles might generate particularly effective CTL responses. Thus, the overall conclusion from these studies was that while some aspects of HIV infection can be captured in models of pure viral dynamics, individual variations in disease progression rates may be related to differences in immune responsiveness.

Similar models have been used to address the role of the immune system in other infectious diseases such as hepatitis B (30) and malaria (31). A recent model of the CTL response in the case of malarial infection has used both the concept of host/parasite interactions and that of antagonist peptides in T cell activation (31). In this system, it was observed that two allelic HLA-B35 epitopes were antagonists for each other, such that CTL specific for one epitope would be inhibited by the presence of the other epitope. In addition, the presence of co-infection with malarial strains containing both alleles was observed more frequently than expected (31). A model of these interactions was developed that predicted, among other things, that the increase in observed mixed infections could be attributed to the presence of antagonism both at the level of CTL induction and effector function. In particular, antagonism at the level of CTL induction alone was not sufficient to account for the increase in mixed infections. The complex interrelations between the host immune system and invading pathogens can, in this way, be unraveled with the help of mathematical models.

One of the beauties of mathematical modeling is that it raises questions that may not have been addressed before. The calculation of the CD4⁺ T cell turnover rate (10⁹ T cells/day) during HIV infection was considered by some immunologists to be highly inaccurate and it was proposed that the rate of increase in the CD4 count following anti-viral therapy could be accounted for by the recirculation of CD4⁺ T cells from lymphoid organs, and there was ample experimental evidence to support this concept (32). As a result of this debate new models of lymphocyte recirculation have been developed, which can be incorporated into existing models of HIV disease (33, 34). However, a recent paper describing CD4⁺ T cell turnover in uninfected and SIV-infected macaques demonstrated that SIV infection does result in a marked increase in turnover rate for CD4⁺, CD8⁺ T cells, NK and B cells (35). The debate on this issue is not over and questions still remain in order to resolve this issue.

Mathematical models of HIV infection, as illustrated above, have provided important new insights into the development of AIDS and pathogenesis of HIV. Even in situations where the models might have been subsequently proved wrong they have provided a forum for debate that has helped researchers, both basic and clinical, deepen their understanding of the disease process and what therapeutic regimens might be most efficacious. The value of a model in this situation, and probably in any situation, is measured by the clarity of the question it aims to answer. By using models to address very specific questions in HIV pathogenesis and treatment, mathematicians have provided important new insights into this devastating disease.

4. MODELS OF T CELL ACTIVATION AND PROLIFERATION

T cells recognize antigen presented as a peptide bound to self MHC class I or class II molecules. The specificity of the TCR:ligand interaction is such that, in general, only foreign peptides are recognized. It has been shown that MHC molecules can bind many different peptides and that at least 2000 different peptides are presented at any one time on a given antigen presenting cell (APC). A particular MHC/peptide complex may only be represented 100 times on an APC and the T cell expresses at least 10⁴ T cell receptors (TCR) on its surface. An area of considerable interest, both experimentally and theoretically, has been to determine the requirements for T cell activation such that the T cell is sensitive enough to recognize small numbers of MHC/peptide complexes (36-38) without allowing a significant number of "false positive" responses that could lead to destructive autoimmune disease. T cell activation is thus both highly specific and extremely sensitive, despite the fact that the measured affinity between TCR and MHC/peptide complex is relatively low (39). Lanzavecchia and colleagues have provided experimental data to support the concept that T cell activation requires, in some cases, serial triggering of the TCR, such that a single MHC/peptide complex can trigger many hundreds of TCR (40). The interaction between individual TCR and MHC/peptide is brief and is determined by the dissociation rate constant; it is postulated that a certain length of association is required in order to trigger the intracellular cascade of events that lead to full T cell activation. They also demonstrated that once the TCR has been triggered it is internalized and degraded (41), whereas the MHC/peptide complex is released to bind more TCR. The experimental evidence for this is based on the observation that the level of TCR expression goes down following T cell activation, and has been elegantly confirmed in studies by Sykulev et al who demonstrated that a single MHC/peptide complex could trigger CTL function (36). From these data it has been calculated that up to 8000 TCR/MHC/peptide interactions are required in order to trigger the T cell, in the absence of costimulation (42). Recently Valetutti and Lanzavecchia have developed a computer model of this concept and have been able to demonstrate the function of agonist and antagonist peptides based on varying the time of interaction between TCR and MHC/peptide complex. They suggested that the TCR can be considered a "tunable switch that may transduce different signals depending on the time of ligation" (43).

Several other models have been proposed for this important interaction. One that attracted a lot of attention among immunologists was that of McKeithan, who used the concept of kinetic proofreading as a way to explain the high degree of sensitivity in the presence of high specificity of a low affinity receptor (44). TCR activation was modeled as a series of steps that had to be completed before a full signal to activate was delivered, similar to that described by Hopfield for DNA replication (45). In this scenario the TCR interacts with the MHC/peptide complex leading to a modification of the receptor, which then moves through a series of steps before reaching a state of irreversible activation. Mistakes would be avoided by postulating that each step had a unique dissociation rate constant and, that if dissociation were too rapid, the next step would not be achieved. It was postulated that nonspecific interactions would be avoided since it is unlikely that short-lived interactions would be able to sustain the number of steps required for full T cell activation. This model again predicts that the degree of T cell activation is controlled by the off rate of the TCR/MHC/peptide complex.

A more recent version of the kinetic proofreading model has been proposed and has been termed kinetic discrimination (46). In this case, if a ligand interacts with the TCR to produce a modified receptor, it can either be further modified and eventually lead to T cell activation, or it can dissociate and deliver a negative signal to inhibit activation. This model incorporates the concept of serial engagement and introduces the concept of a suboptimal ligand delivering a negative signal rather than simply failing to activate. This model incorporates, therefore, the experimental observations showing that antagonist peptides can inhibit the simultaneous activation via an agonist peptide. Again, this model is dependent on the dissociation rate constant for the TCR from the MHC/peptide complex.

These models all postulate that variant ligands will result in different signaling events triggered via the TCR, and there has been extensive experimental evidence that this is the case. One of the earliest events triggered via the TCR is an increase in intracellular calcium, which has recently been studied in detail and correlated with the model of kinetic discrimination described above (47). In these experiments Wülfing et al identified several types of calcium signal and classified them according to the percentage of cells responding, the quality and timing of the response. The differences in calcium response were correlated with downstream activation events such as cytokine production and proliferation, and the results suggested that the calcium response represented the accumulated signal received by the T cell. Thus, the T cell appeared to have counted the different signals received before the calcium flux is initiated. These results were used to refine the model, and introduced the requirement for the accumulation of a particular amount of an intracellular signaling molecule in order to trigger proliferation, a kind of activation threshold (47). The ability of individual peptides to signal the T cell to accumulate the threshold quantity of signal transduction product could be reproduced in computer simulations of this model. The authors concluded from these results, and the subsequent model, that commitment to T cell activation was not dependent on the rate of MHC/peptide/TCR complex formation or on oligomerization of the TCR, but rather on the accumulation of an intracellular signal transducing molecule (47).

These ideas have been debated for many years and it has been proposed by several groups that oligomerization of TCR, often in the presence of the accessory molecule CD4, was necessary for T cell activation (48, 49). The models of kinetic discrimination and serial engagement do not include any need for oligomerization or complex formation on the T cell surface. Hampl et al recently reported that CD4 appeared to bind after the TCR had interacted with MHC/peptide complex, that it was most necessary in short lived (1-2s) interactions, and that it had very little impact on interactions that lasted longer (50). Thus, the presence of CD4 can convert a weak agonist peptide into a strong agonist but it has little effect on already strong agonist peptides. The models described above clearly do not take into account all of the factors known to be important in T cell activation, such as the role of costimulation and CD4 accessory molecules. It has been shown that the presence of CD28 results in a reduction in the threshold number of activated TCR from 8000 to 1500 (42), but these facts have yet to be incorporated into a meaningful model.

T cell activation has also been modeled as a consequence of aggregation of the TCR on the cell surface, and these models differ from those discussed above since they concentrate on the signal transduction pathway initiated following T cell activation (51). In these studies, the investigators develop a model with the aim of understanding antigen-induced unresponsiveness and it is concluded that the activity of phosphorylating enzymes, triggered after activation, does not return immediately to

baseline levels. This could provide a plausible explanation for the phenomenon of T cell unresponsiveness following prior antigenic stimulation, and it is suggested that if suboptimal ligands interact with the TCR they could function by delivering a phosphorylation signal that is insufficient for activation but sufficient to induce unresponsiveness. Thus, this model specified what the negative signal, discussed in the kinetic discrimination model, might be, but used a different paradigm for T cell activation. It will be interesting in the future to see some of these models put together

A recent report by De Boer and Perelson utilizes the Michaelis-Menten type quasi-steady-state assumption which allows for an almost enzymatic amplification of the T cell response (52). This model is the latest in a series by the same group and it represents an improvement over the previous models since it allows for a maximal level of T cell proliferation. This model utilizes an interesting concept of T cell activation but it does not address the fundamental issues of interest to many T cell immunologists, namely the role of antagonist peptides and the high degree specificity and sensitivity in a relatively low affinity receptor.

Another model that has provided some important new insights is a detailed model of T cell activation that incorporates the antigen presentation step. All of the previous models discussed above utilized MHC/peptide complexes as a variable but did not model their generation. A recent model of T cell/APC interaction by Agrawal and Linderman specifically models the antigen processing pathway in antigen-specific B cells and performs a detailed kinetic analysis of this process (53). This model details the path that antigen takes from the surface immunoglobulin of a specific B cell, through intracellular compartments and interaction with newly synthesized MHC molecules. The effects of varying the method of antigen uptake, the affinity of antigen for immunoglobulin, the affinity of peptide for MHC and TCR affinity for MHC/peptide are all examined in detail. This model does not address the fundamental issues of sensitivity and specificity of T cell activation but it elegantly delineates the important parameters of antigen processing and presentation by B cells. It will be interesting to see this kind of model used in conjunction with models that more specifically describe T cell activation.

T cell proliferation is a very late consequence of T cell activation and is thought to be mediated via cytokines such as interleukin (IL-)-2 and IL-4, secreted following activation. The ability of IL-2 and IL-4 to stimulate proliferation is related to the expression of high affinity receptors for IL-2 (IL-2R) and IL-4 (IL-4R) on activated T cells. In our studies of T cell proliferation we have been interested in developing a mathematical model that would take into account two apparently contradictory experimental results. IL-2 and IL-4 have been shown to act in synergy in stimulating T cell proliferation (54, 55). Thus, the presence of IL-4 when only limiting amounts of IL-2 are present will result in an enhanced T cell proliferation that is greater than additive. In contrast, it has been shown that pretreatment of both B and T cells with IL-4 results in a downregulation in the number of high affinity IL-2R on the surface of these cells (56, 57). In addition, whereas both IL-2 and IL-4 can stimulate proliferation of B cells individually, the combined treatment of B cells with IL-2 and IL-4 results in inhibition of proliferation. We developed

a mathematical model of these events that was able to provide a plausible explanation for these apparently contradictory results (55). In this model both the synergy effect and the downregulatory effect of IL-4 on IL-2R expression were included. We were able to show that the appearance of synergy or antagonism between IL-2 and IL-4 depended on several variables, including the initial number of IL-2R and IL-4R expressed on the cell and the threshold number of binding events required to stimulate proliferation (55, 58). Thus, if as in the case of B cells, the number of IL-2R is low relative to the number of IL-4R, the presence of IL-4 will result in the downregulation of IL-2R expression to level at which the threshold number of bindings can no longer occur and antagonism will result. In contrast, in T cells that express high levels of IL-2R the synergistic effect of IL-4 on the IL-2 response occurs before the reduction in the number of IL-2R, in the presence of IL-4, falls below the threshold required for proliferation. We have subsequently used this model to estimate the threshold number of binding events required for IL-2-mediated and IL-4-mediated proliferation and have been able to generate synergy terms that allow accurate simulation of experimental results (58).

In this area, apparent paradoxes in experimental results, such as in T cell activation and cytokine effects, can be clarified by the use of mathematical models. In many cases, such as that of IL-2 and IL-4, a mathematical model that incorporates known biological phenomena can be used to simulate apparently contradictory experimental results, demonstrating that the same underlying principles can explain synergy and antagonism in two different systems.

5. SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION MODELS

Activation of the T cell via the TCR, as discussed above. is not thought to require extensive oligomerization/aggregation of the receptor for signals to be transduced. This is still a matter of some debate, but it is clear, on the other hand, that some receptor systems do require a significant degree of aggregation for a signal to be transduced. An example of this is the high affinity Fc receptor for IgE (FceRI), which is found on mast cells and basophils. When this receptor is triggered degranulation of the mast cell/basophil occurs and mediators important in allergic reactions are released. The kinetics and degree of aggregation required for signaling has been extensively studied by several groups and several models have been developed of this system (59-62). Results that have emerged from these studies have revealed that simple cyclic dimers of bound FcERI are not sufficient to induce activation (60), and this suggested that complex structures were required in order to trigger internal signaling events. This concept has been investigated further by the identification and detailed kinetic analysis of phosphorylation events occurring following controlled FCERI aggregation (61, 63). In this way, it could be demonstrated that cyclic dimers of Fc RI only stimulate partial phosphorylation of the receptor (63).

6. IMMUNE NETWORKS

Over 20 years ago Neils Jerne proposed the network theory of immune regulation (64), which postulated that the immune system was regulated by a network of idiotype/anti-idiotype interactions. This network would be responsible for the control of the immune response and would also allow the development of self tolerance. The concept of networks was very attractive to mathematicians and many models have been developed around this concept (65-68). These models demonstrated that a network of interacting antibody molecules was selforganizing and could generate states of tolerance, immune response and memory. These models were all based on the bell shaped curve of lymphocyte activation, which allowed the inactivation/deletion of clones that were of too high an affinity for the antigen. While this was attractive, the network theory did not become an accepted part of mainstream immunology due to the ability of clonal selection theory to explain immune responsiveness and tolerance through selective clonal expansion or deletion respectively (69). However, it has become apparent that networks of interconnected antibodies do exist involving around 20% of the circulating lymphocytes in the newborn, with this degree of network connection falling significantly with age (70, 71). For some immunologists, clonal selection theory has never adequately explained the maintenance of self tolerance or the development of autoimmunity (69). Recent experiments and models have permitted the refinement of the network theory, and have demonstrated that the presence of a network involving a small percentage (15%) of lymphocytes is sufficient to maintain tolerance, and has unstable properties that could occasionally allow autoimmunity to develop (72-75). In addition, the development of immune memory can be seen to emerge naturally from such a network model, rendering obsolete the requirement for long-lived memory cells or persistent antigen. While the network theory is still, to some extent, on the fringes of mainstream immunology it is a good example of a productive collaboration between immunologists and mathematicians leading to a deeper understanding of immune regulation. In a recent editorial (69), Coutinho elegantly described the evolution of the network theory and postulated that the immune response to foreign antigen is mediated by clonal expansion of lymphocyte clones but that a network involving a small proportion of lymphocytes is necessary for the maintenance of self tolerance. This perspective has resulted in development of a new model that incorporates both B and T cells in a network that is restricted to a small proportion of these cells (76).

7. OTHER IMMUNOLOGICAL MODELS

The development of T cells in the thymus has been a fertile area of research and recently has attracted the attention of modelers (77-79). A recent model by Mehr and colleagues (80, 81) describes the role of mature $CD4^+$ T cells on T cell development in the thymus. It has been observed experimentally that the addition of mature T cells profoundly affects the developing thymocytes, resulting in a reduction in the numbers of double positive (DP) thymocytes and an increase in the numbers of mature CD4⁺ T cells (81). These effects were markedly increased in older mice. In order to reproduce these results the mathematical model had to introduce two levels of regulation by CD4⁺ T cells. One was a negative effect on the proliferation and expansion of DP thymocytes and the other was a positive effect on the differentiation of CD4⁺ T cells.

Several other models of basic immunological phenomena have been reported including models of

Th1/Th2 crossregulation (82, 83), the development of germinal centers (84) and B cell homeostasis (85).

8. CELLULAR AUTOMATA IN IMMUNOLOGY

Most of the mathematical models described in the preceding sections involve the use of differential equations; there have been few models using the concept of cellular automata, computer simulations in which the body is depicted as a grid and all of the components of the system are defined. An immune response can be followed in this system by allowing the system to evolve over several discrete time steps and introducing a series of basic rules of interaction among cells, antigen, antibodies etc. The recognition receptors and antigens can be modeled as a series of bit maps and the recognition requirements for activation are specifically defined. The advantage of this type of model is that it allows spatial configuration of the immune system and adds the extra dimension of structure to the model. However, it does not allow extensive mathematical analysis since the results are analyzed after each individual simulation, and only then can the parameters of the automaton be modified. Celada and Seiden have extensively used this modeling system and have produced models of the immune response (86, 87), somatic hypermutation of B cells (88), and the thymus (89). All of these models have been able to reproduce existing experimental data and have suggested new interpretations of the data with further experiments to be performed. Cellular automata can be a useful step for immunologists interested in modeling since all of the elements of the model are defined and it is readily understood. In the complex area of the interacting immune system, when there is potentially insufficient information available to construct a detailed mathematical model, cellular automata can be used to simulate what is known about the interactions and thus to highlight where the gaps in the knowledge are the most problematic.

9. CONCLUSIONS

The explosion of research in immunology has led to the need to develop integrated ways of describing the system. Many of the recent experimental advances in the field have relied on the isolation of the objects of study, using either knockout or transgenic mouse models. These powerful technologies provide important insights into the relative importance of certain cytokines, cell surface molecules and cell types, but do not ultimately tell us how the system functions when all of the components are present and active. It seems, to this immunologist at least, that the language of mathematics is ideally suited to the understanding of the integrated immune system as a whole, and that it will become an increasingly important part of the study of the immune system. Physics was transformed from a study of phenomena into the powerful subject it is today through the introduction of mathematics as its main language. In biological sciences, mathematics have come to play an important role in the study of the nervous system and have contributed greatly the development of quantitative neurobiology. It remains to be seen how profoundly mathematics can influence the study of the

immune system, but in the examples described above it can be seen that its impact is already being felt.

10. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by NIH grant AI31427. The author wishes to thank Drs. Susan McCarthy, Benoît Morel and Timothy Oriss for critical reading of this manuscript.

11. REFERENCES

1. Smith K. A.: Interleukin-2: inception, impact, and implications. *Science* 240, 1169-1176 (1988)

2. Cantrell D. A. & K. A. Smith: The interleukin-2 T-cell system: a new cell growth model. *Science* 224, 1312-1316 (1984)

3. Kneitz B., T. Hermann, S. Yonehara & A. Schimpl: Normal clonal expansion but impaired Fas-mediated cell death and anergy induction in interleukin-2-deficient mice. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25, 2572-2579 (1995)

4. Lenardo M. J.: Interleukin-2 programs mouse αβ T lymphocytes for apoptosis. *Nature* 353, 858-861 (1991)

5. Wang R., A. M. Rogers, B. J. Rush & J. H. Russell: Induction of sensitivity to activation-induced cell death in primary CD4⁺ cells: a role for interlukin-2 in the negative regulation of responses by mature CD4⁺ T cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 26, 2263-2270 (1996)

6. Levin S. A., B. Grenfell, A. Hastings & A. S. Perelson: Mathematical and computational challenges in population biology and ecosystems science. *Science* 275, 334-343 (1997)

7. Fauci A. S.: The immunodeficiency virus: infectivity and mechanisms of pathogenesis. *Science* 239, 617-622 (1988)

8. Feng Y., C. C. Broder, P. E. Kennedy & E. A. Berger: HIV-1 entry cofactor: Functional cDNA cloning of a seven-transmembrane G protein-coupled receptor. *Science* 272, 872-877 (1996)

9. Nowak M. A., R. M. Andersin, A. R. MbLean, T. F. W. Wolfs, J. Goudsmit & R. M. May: Antigenic diversity thresholds and the development of AIDS. *Science* 254, 963-969 (1991)

10. Ho D. D., A. U. Neumann, A. S. Perelson, W. Chen, J. M. Leonard & M. Markowitz: Rapid turnover of plasma virions and CD4 lymphocytes in HIV-1 infection. *Nature* 373, 123-126 (1995)

11. Wei X., S. K. Ghosh, M. E. Taylor, V. A. Johnson, E. A. Emini, P. Deutsch, J. D. Lifson, S. Bonhoeffer, M. A. Nowak, B. H. Hahn, M. S. Saag & G. M. Shaw: Viral dynamics in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *Nature* 373, 117-122 (1995)

12. McLean A. R. & M. A. Nowak: Competition between zidovudine-sensitive and zidovudine-resistant strains of HIV. *AIDS* 6, 71-79 (1992)

13. Perelson A. S., D. E. Kirschner & R. De Boer: The dynamics of HIV infection od CD4⁺ T cells. *Math. Biosci.* 114, 84-125 (1993)

14. Essunger P. & A. S. Perelson: Modeling HIV infection of CD4+ T-cell subpopulations. *J. theor. Biol.* 170, 367-391 (1994)

15. de Jong M. D., J. Veenstra, N. I. Stilianakis, R. Schuurman, J. M. Lange, R. J. de Boer & C. A. Boucher: Host-parasite dynamics and outgrowth of virus containing a single K70R amino acid change in reverse transcriptase are responsible for the loss of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA load suppression by zidovudine. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 93, 5501-5506 (1996)

16. Mittler J. E., B. R. Levin & R. Antia: T cell homeostasis, competition, and drift: AIDS as HIV-accelerated senescence of the immune repertoire. *J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. Hum. Retrovir.* 12, 233-248 (1996)

17. Nowak M. A., A. L. Lloyd, G. M. Vasquez, T. A. Wiltrout, L. M. Wahl, N. Bischofberger, J. Williams, A. Kinter, A. S. Fauci, V. M. Hirsch & J. D. Lifson: Viral dynamics of primary viremia and antiretroviral therapy in simian immunodeficiency virus infection. *J. Virol.* 71, 7518-7525 (1997)

18. Nowak M. A., S. Bonhoeffer, G. M. Shaw & R. M. May: Anti-viral drug treatment: dynamics of resistance in free virus and infected cell populations. *J. theor. Biol.* 184, 203-217 (1997)

19. Stilianakis N. I., C. A. Boucher, M. D. De Jong, R. Van Leeuwen, R. Schuurman & R. J. De Boer: Clinical data sets of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcriptase-resistant mutants explained by a mathematical model. *J. Virol.* 71, 161-168 (1997)

20. Bonhoeffer S., R. M. May, G. M. Shaw & M. A. Nowak: Virus dynamics and drug therapy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.USA* 94, 6971-6976 (1997)

21. de Jong M. D., R. J. de Boer, F. de Wolf, N. A. Foudraine, C. A. Boucher, J. Goudsmit & J. M. Lange: Overshoot of HIV-1 viraemia after early discontinuation of antiretroviral treatment. *AIDS* 11, F79-84 (1997)

22. Herz A. V., S. Bonhoeffer, R. M. Anderson, R. M. May & M. A. Nowak: Viral dynamics in vivo: limitations on estimates of intracellular delay and virus decay. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 93, 7247-7251 (1996)

23. Wein L. M., S. A. Zenios & M. A. Nowak: Dynamic multidrug therapies for HIV: a control theoretic approach. *J. theor. Biol.* 185, 15-29 (1997)

24. Perelson A. S., P. Essunger, Y. Cao, M. Vesanen, A. Hurley, K. Saksela, M. Markowitz & D. D. Ho: Decay characteristics of HIV-1-infected compartments during combination therapy. *Nature* 387, 188-191 (1997)

25. Perelson A. S., A. U. Neumann, M. Markowitz, J. M. Leonard & D. D. Ho: HIV-1 dynamics in vivo: virion clearance rate, infected cell life-span, and viral generation time. *Science* 271, 1582-1586 (1996)

26. De Boer R. J. & M. C. Boerlijst: Diversity and virulence thresholds in AIDS. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91, 544-548 (1994)

27. Nowak M. A. & C. R. Bangham: Population dynamics of immune responses to persistent viruses. *Science* 272, 74-79 (1996)

28. Nowak M. A., R. M. May & K. Sigmund: Immune responses against multiple epitopes. *J. theor. Biol.* 175, 325-353 (1995)

29. Klenerman P., R. E. Phillips, C. R. Rinaldo, L. M. Wahl, G. Ogg, R. M. May, A. J. McMichael & M. A. Nowak: Cytotoxic T lymphocytes and viral turnover in HIV type 1 infection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 93, 15323-15328 (1996)

30. Nowak M. A., S. Bonhoeffer, A. M. Hill, R. Boehme, H. C. Thomas & H. McDade: Viral dynamics in hepatitis B virus infection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 93, 4398-4402 (1996)

31. Gilbert S. C., M. Plebanski, S. Gupta, J. Morris, M. Cox, M. Aidoo, D. Kwiatkowski, B. M. Greenwood, H. C. Whittle & A. V. S. Hill: Association of malaria parasite population structure, HLA, and immunological antagonism. *Science* 279, 1173-1177 (1998)

32. Grossman Z. & R. B. Herberman: T-cell homeostasis in HIV infection is neither failing nor blind: modified cell counts reflect an adaptive response of the host. *Nature Med.* 3, 486-490 (1997)

33. Stekel D. J.: The role of inter-cellular adhesion in the recirculation of T lymphocytes. *J. theor. Biol.* 186, 491-501 (1997)

34. Stekel D. J., C. E. Parker & M. A. Nowak: A model of lymphocyte recirculation. *Immunol. Today* 18, 216-221 (1997)

35. Mohri H., S. Bonhoeffer, S. Monard, A. Perelson & D. D. Ho: Rapid turnover of T lymphocytes in SIV-infected rhesus macaques. *Science* 279, 1223-1227 (1998)

36. Sykulev Y., M. Jooh, I. Vturina, T. J. Tsomides & H. N. Eisen: Evidence that a single peptide-MHC complex on a target cell can elicit a cytolytic T cell response. *Immunity* 4, 565-571 (1996)

37. Harding C. V. & E. R. Unanue: Quantitation of antigenpresenting cell MHC class II/peptide complexes necessary for T cell stimulation. *Nature* 346, 574-576 (1990)

38. Demotz S., H. M. Grey & A. Sette: The minimal number of class II MHC-antigen complexes needed for T cell activation. *Science* 249, 1028-1030 (1990)

39. Karjalainen K.: High sensitivity, low affinity-paradox of T-cell receptor recognition. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 6, 9-12 (1994)

40. Valitutti S., S. Muller, M. Cella, E. Padovan & A. Lanzavecchia: Serial triggering of many T cell receptors by a few peptide-MHC complexes. *Nature* 375, 148-151 (1995)

41. Valitutti S., S. Muller, M. Salio & A. Lanzavecchia: Degradation of T cell receptor (TCR)-CD3-ζ complexes after antigenic stimulation. *J. Exp. Med.* 185, 1859-1864 (1997)

42. Viola A. & A. Lanzavecchia: T cell activation determined by T cell receptor number and tunable thresholds. *Science* 273, 104-107 (1996)

43. Valitutti S. & A. Lanzavecchia: Serial triggering of TCRs: a basis for the sensitivity and specificity of antigen recognition. *Immunol. Today* 18, 299-304 (1997)

44. McKeithan T. W.: Kinetic proofreading in T-cell receptor signal transduction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92, 5042-5046 (1995)

45. Hopfield J. J.: Kinetic proofreading: a new mechanism for reducing errors in biosynthetic processes requiring high specificity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 71, 4135-4139 (1974)

46. Rabinowitz J. D., C. Beeson, D. S. Lyons, M. M. Davis & H. M. McConnell: Kinetic discrimination in T-cell activation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 93, 1401-1405 (1996)

47. Wulfing C., J. D. Rabinowitz, C. Beeson, M. D. Sjaastad, H. M. McConnell & M. M. Davis: Kinetics and extent of T cell activation as measured with the calcium signal. *J. Exp. Med.* 185, 1815-1825 (1997)

48. Konig R., S. Fleury & R. N. Germain: The structural basis of CD4-MHC class II interactions: coreceptor contributions to T cell receptor antigen recognition and oligomerization-dependent signal transduction. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 205, 19-46 (1996)

49. Madrenas J. & R. N. Germain: Variant TCR ligands: new insights into the molecular basis of antigen-dependent signal transduction and T-cell activation. *Semin. Immunol.* 8, 83-101 (1996)

50. Hampl J., Y.-H. Chien & M. M. Davis: CD4 augments the response of a T cell to agonist but not to antagonist ligands. *Immunity* 7, 379-386 (1997)

51. Kaufman M., F. Andris & O. Leo: A model for antigeninduced T cell unresponsiveness based on autophosphorylative protein tyrosine kinase activity. *Int. Immunol.* 8, 613-624 (1996)

52. De Boer R. J. & A. S. Perelson: Towards a general function describing T cell proliferation. *J. theor. Biol.* 175, 567-576 (1995)

53. Agrawal N. G. & J. J. Linderman: Mathematical modeling of helper T lymphocyte/antigen-presenting cell interactions: analysis of methods for modifying antigen processing and presentation. *J. theor. Biol.* 182, 487-504 (1996)

54. Fernandez-Botran R., V. M. Sanders, T. R. Mossman & E. S. Vitetta: Lymphokine-mediated regulation of the proliferative response of clones of T helper 1 and T helper 2 cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 168, 543-558 (1988)

55. Morel B. F., M. A. Burke, J. R. Kalagnanam, S. A. McCarthy, D. J. Tweardy & P. A. Morel: Making sense of the combined effect of interleukin-2 and interleukin-4 on lymphocytes using a mathematical model. *Bull. Mathemat. Biol.* 58, 569-594 (1996)

56. Fernandez-Botran R., V. M. Sanders & E. S. Vitetta: Interaction between receptors for interleukin 2 and interleukin 4 on lines of helper T cells (HT-2) and B lymphoma cells (BCL1). *J. Exp. Med.* 169, 379-391 (1989)

57. Duprez V., V. Cornet & A. Dautry-Varsat: Downregulation of high affinity interleukin 2 receptors in a human tumor T cell line. Interleukin 2 increases the rate of surface receptor decay. *J. Biol. Chem.* 263, 12860-12865 (1988)

58. Burke M. A., B. F. Morel, T. B. Oriss, J. Bray, S. A. McCarthy & P. A. Morel: Modeling the proliferative response of T cells to IL-2 and IL-4. *Cell. Immunol.* 178, 42-52 (1997)

59. Goldstein B. & M. Dembo: Approximating the effects of diffusion on reversible reactions at the cell surface: ligand-receptor kinetics. *Biophys. J.* 68, 1222-1230 (1995)

60. Posner R. G., K. Subramanian, B. Goldstein, J. Thomas, T. Feder, D. Holowka & B. Baird: Simultaneous crosslinking by two nontriggering bivalent ligands causes synergistic signaling of IgE Fc epsilon RI complexes. *J. Immunol.* 155, 3601-3609 (1995)

61. Torigoe C., B. Goldstein, C. Wofsy & H. Metzger: Shuttling of initiating kinase between discrete aggregates of the high affinity receptor for IgE regulates the cellular response. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94, 1372-1377 (1997)

62. Wofsy C., U. M. Kent, S. Y. Mao, H. Metzger & B. Goldstein: Kinetics of tyrosine phosphorylation when IgE dimers bind to Fc epsilon receptors on rat basophilic leukemia cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 20264-20272 (1995)

63. Harris N. T., B. Goldstein, D. Holowka & B. Baird: Altered patterns of tyrosine phosphorylation and Syk activation for sterically restricted cyclic dimers of IgE-Fc epsilon RI. *Biochem.* 36, 2237-2242 (1997)

64. Jerne N. K.: Towards a network theory of the immune system. *Ann. Immunol. (Inst. Pasteur)* 125C, 373-389 (1974)

65. Varela F. J. & J. Stewart: Dynamics of a class of immune networks: Global stability of idiotype interactions. *J. theor. Biol.* 144, 93-101 (1990)

66. Weisbuch G., R. De Boer & A. S. Perelson: Localized memories in idiotypic networks. *J. theor. Biol.* 146, 483-499 (1990)

67. De Boer R. & A. S. Perelson: Size and connectivity as emergent properties of a developing immune network. *J. theor. Biol.* 149, 381-424 (1990)

68. De Boer R., I. G. Kevrekidis & A. S. Perelson: A simple idiotypic network with complex dynamics. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* 45, 2375-2382 (1990)

69. Coutinho A.: The network theory: 21 years later. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 42, 3-8 (1995)

70. Kearney J. F.: Formation of autoantibodies, including anti-cytokine antibodies, is a hallmark of the immune response of early B cells. *J. Interf. Res.* 14, (1994)

71. Martin F., X. Chen, F. Shu & J. F. Kearney: Development of the mouse B-cell repertoire. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 764, (1995)

72. Detours V., B. Sulzer & A. S. Perelson: Size and connectivity of the idiotypic network are independent of the discreteness of the affinity distribution. *J. theor. Biol.* 183, 409-416 (1996)

73. Detours V., H. Bersini, J. Stewart & F. Varela: Development of an idiotypic network in shape space. *J. theor. Biol.* 170, 401-414 (1994)

74. Calenbuhr V., H. Bersini, J. Stewart & F. J. Varela: Natural tolerance in a simple immune network. *J. theor. Biol.* 177, 199-213 (1995)

75. Bernardes A. T. & R. M. dos Santos: Immune network at the edge of chaos. *J. theor. Biol.* 186, 173-187 (1997)

76. Carneiro J., A. Coutinho & J. Stewart: A model of the immune network with B-T cell co-operation. *J. theor. Biol.* 182, 531-547 (1996)

77. Mehr R., A. Globerson & A. S. Perelson: Modeling positive and negative selection and differentiation processes in the thymus. *J. theor. Biol.* 175, 103-126 (1995)

78. Mehr R., M. Fridkis-Hareli, L. Abel, L. Segel & A. Globerson: Lymphocyte development in irradiated thymuses: dynamics of colonization by progenitor cells and regeneration of resident cells. *J. theor. Biol.* 177, 181-192 (1995)

79. Grossman Z. & A. Singer: Tuning of activation thresholds explains flexibility in the selection and development of T cells in the thymus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 93, 14747-14752 (1996)

80. Mehr R., A. S. Perelson, M. Fridkis-Hareli & A. Globerson: Feedback regulation of T cell development in the thymus. *J. theor. Biol.* 181, 157-167 (1996)

81. Mehr R., A. S. Perelson, M. Fridkis-Hareli & A. Globerson: Regulatory feedback pathways in the thymus. *Immunol. Today* 18, 581-585 (1997)

82. Fishman M. A. & A. S. Perelson: Th1/Th2 cross regulation. *J. theor. Biol.* 170, 25-56 (1994)

83. Carneiro J., J. Stewart, A. Coutinho & G. Coutinho: The ontogeny of class-regulation of CD4⁺ T lymphocyte populations. *Int. Immunol.* 7, 1265-1277 (1995)

84. Pierre D. M., D. Goldman, Y. Bar-Yam & A. S. Perelson: Somatic evolution in the immune system: the need for germinal centers for efficient affinity maturation. *J. theor. Biol.* 186, 159-171 (1997)

85. McLean A. R., M. M. Rosado, F. Agenes, R. Vasconcellos & A. A. Freitas: Resource competition as a mechanism for B cell homeostasis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94, 5792-5797 (1997)

86. Seiden P. E. & F. Celada: A model for simulating cognate recognition and response in the immune system. *J. theor. Biol.* 158, 329-340 (1992)

87. Celada F. & P. E. Seiden: A computer model of cellular interactions in the immune system. *Immunol. Today* 13, 56-61 (1992)

88. Celada F. & P. E. Seiden: Affinity maturation and hypermutation in a simulation of the humoral immune response. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 26, 1350-1358 (1996)

89. Morpurgo D., R. Serentha, P. E. Seiden & F. Celada: Modelling thymic functions in a cellular automaton. *Int. Immunol.* 7, 505-516 (1995)

Key words: Immunology, T lymphocytes, HIV infection, mathematical modeling

Send correspondence to : Penelope A. Morel, MD, Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Biomedical Science Tower, W1057, 200 Lothrop Street, Pittsburgh, PA 15213, Tel: (412)-624 0343, Fax: (412)-624 7737, E-mail: morel+@pitt.edu